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SUMMARY

The Springdale Poultry Industry Historic District is located between East Emma Avenue and East Meadow
Avenue, just east of the Arkansas and Missouri Railroad line in downtown Springdale, Arkansas. It consists
of three contributing structures: the Jeff Brown Hatchery Building at 317 East Emma Avenue, the Tyson
Office Building at 319 East Emma Avenue, and the Tyson Feed Mill Building at 316 East Meadow Avenue.

ELABORATION
Tyson Office Building (319 East Emma Avenue)

Tyson Foods' first headquarters were housed in a relatively nondescript structure considering the company's
role today as the largest supplier of protein in the world. It sits on the site of the former Springdale Produce
Company building, which was built between 1914 and 1924. Assessor's records, historical photographs, and
Sanborm maps suggest that this building was either heavily remodeled or torn down and rebuilt circa 1947;
the resulting structure housed the first headquarters of Tyson Foods, which stands today at 319 East Emma

Avenue.!

The current building is a typical 20"-century commercial structure with a simple, rectangular floor plan.
Most of the building is one-story, though there is a windowless second story above the offices in the front
section. The north-facing storefront is constructed of unadorned blond brick and measures just 25 feet wide.
Measuring 150 feet deep, the east and west walls are made of red brick with a stepped parapet that is covered
with a sheet metal cap. The rear wall is also red brick and measures 25 feet wide, giving the building a total
footprint of 3,750 square feet. These walls sit upon a poured concrete foundation and are topped with a flat
tar roof.

North Facade

Facing East Emma Avenue, the storefront occupies the north side of the building. The top half of this
elevation is constructed of blond brick laid in a stretcher bond pattern with a single-row header cornice. The

! Easement for Use of Adjoining Wall, September 25, 1950, Abstract Book 421, Page 357, Washington County Clerk's Office,
Fayetteville, Arkansas; Tax Ledger Sheet, 1948-1960, Springdale (Brooks Addition), Lot 9, Block 1, Washington County
Assessor's Office, Fayetteville, Arkansas; Sanbomn Fire Insurance Maps, Springdale, Arkansas, 1924 and 1948; Shiloh Museum
Photograph Archives, accession no. S-86-15-9, Shiloh Museum of Ozark History, Springdale, Arkansas; Marvin Schwartz, Tyson:
From Farm to Market (Fayetteville: University of Arkansas Press, 1991), p. 9 of photograph insert.
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lower half consists mainly of plate glass windows and a glass door that serves as the building's main
entrance. Located on the west end of the storefront, the door is topped with a small transom window and
flanked by two narrow plate-glass windows. This arrangement is slightly recessed from the brick wall
above. A large plate glass window to the east slopes outward, where it becomes flush with the brick near the
center point of the storefront. The east half consists entirely of two large plate-glass windows. All windows
are bordered with an aluminum window frame and have an aluminum rail running horizontally across them
one-third of the way up from the bottom. The glass on the bottom third is opaque and frosty, while it is
tinted on the top two thirds. Between the windows on the bottom and brick on the top runs a flat aluminum
awning which extends out just a few feet.

East Fagade

The east elevation is a red brick wall that gradually steps down along the top a total of eight times from front
to back. A seam in the brick is visible just behind the front office section. To the north of this seam is a
large metal vent halfway up the wall, and beyond that is a metal staircase that runs against the side of the
building to a door on the second floor. The door is boarded and now houses an air conditioning unit. The
only feature south of the seam is a small utility box located about halfway up the wall, 75 feet from the rear

of the building.
South Fagade

Constructed from red brick, the south facade is the rear of the building. A large, central door opening
appears to have been bricked up and replaced with a smaller door that reads, "Tyson." Centered above the
original door opening is a small window that is also bricked up. On either side of that window is a 5x8 glass
block window, though the western window was partially replaced with a louvered vent. A gutter, which
catches all rainwater from the roof, lines the top of the wall. Below, a poured concrete loading dock edged
with metal railings extends from the back of this south elevation.

West Fagade

Like the east facade, the west elevation is a red brick wall that gradually steps down along the top a total of
eight times from front to back. A seam in the brick behind the front office section is also visible on this side.
There are no significant features north of this seam. To the south of the seam, four 5x8 glass block windows
are spaced evenly across the top of the wall. A single door is located halfway between the two northermmost
windows. There is a utility box located just below and to the north of the southernmost window.
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Integrity

Tyson Foods has owned the building at 319 East Emma Avenue since March 6, 1943, and it still houses
company offices to this day. It has been well maintained, though there are modifications. The most
significant change occurred in 2011 when the company removed the original glass storefront from the
building and moved it to the current headquarters where it is now part of a museum. However, Tyson Foods
took care to replace the old windows with new ones that mimic the pane arrangement and tinting of the
originals. Previously, the company also moved a neon sign depicting a baby chick and reading "Tyson's
Feed Hatchery" to the current headquarters. Minor alterations include the bricked up door and window on
the south elevation, as well as the boarded up door on the east elevation. The interior retains much of its
integrity, with Don Tyson's first office--situated in the front of the building by the window--still lined with

the original wood paneling.

Tyson Feed Mill Building (316 East Meadow Avenue)

The building at 316 East Meadow Avenue is a simple one-story structure built circa 1950 by Tyson Feed and
Hatchery, Inc. The main part of the building has brick walls laid out in a basic square floor plan, with a
small concrete block addition projecting from the west end of the south elevation. These walls have all been
painted white, and they rest on a poured concrete foundation and are topped with a flat tar roof. The large
brick section, which boasts two roll-up doors, encloses a single, large room that originally served as a garage.
The small projection housed offices. According to the Washington County Assessor's records, the building
is 6,162 square feet.”

South Facade

The main wall on the south elevation is constructed of painted-white brick and gradually steps down at the
top from east to west. Centered on this side is the main entrance, a single metal door with a window
occupying its top half. To the east of this entrance are two metal garage doors, which are painted red.
Between these two portals is an exterior light, which illuminates the doors and the poured concrete ramp
leading up to them. A small concrete block addition extends south from main building just west of the main
entrance. This extension consists of solid walls, with the exception of the east side, which has a two-over-
two window. The inside corner formed by this addition and the main building is covered by a flat steel
awning that protects the window and main entrance door. The awning and the tops of both the main wall and
the addition are painted with a band of red paint.

2 Parcel Information Sheet, Parcel No. 815-20755-000, Springdale (Brooks Addition), Lots 12-13, Block 1, Washington County
Assessor's Office, Fayetteville, Arkansas; Tax Ledger Sheet, 1948-1960, Springdale (Brooks Addition), Lots 12-13, Block 1,
Washington County Assessor's Office, Fayetteville, Arkansas; Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps, Springdale, Arkansas, 1948.
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West Fagade

The west side of the building is constructed of brick and is painted white. Running along the top of the wall
is a gutter that channels water to two drain pipes on each end of the wall. Just to the right of the drainpipe on
the north side is an oversized door, and just to the left of the drainpipe on the south side is a small window.
Extending west from the door is a poured concrete loading dock. A chain-link fence topped with barbed
wire encloses the south side of this elevation.

North Fagade

Like the south elevation, the north elevation is composed of brick, painted white, with a red stripe running
across the top of the wall, which gradually steps down from east to west. There is an exterior light located at
the top of the wall on the west side. The only other feature on the west half of this elevation is a bay, located
just west of center, which was filled in with concrete block. The eastern half of this side is dominated by an
awning constructed of corrugated steel roofing and wooden posts. The awning, which attaches to the
building about halfway up the wall, at one time sheltered two doors. The one to the left is now closed off
with concrete block, in front of it rests a cylindrical steel tank surrounded by a poured concrete wall. The
one to the right, however, has a roll-up metal door. This entire elevation is enclosed by a chain link fence
topped with barbed wire.

East Fagade

The east elevation is constructed of brick and is painted white, with a thin red stripe running across the top.
It features four single-pane windows, which are barred and distributed evenly across the east facade. A small
utility box is attached at the far north end of this wall.

Integrity

The Tyson Feed Mill Building retains sufficient architectural integrity to demonstrate its role in the
foundation of Tyson Foods, though there have been some alterations. The south side once had two or three
.small garage doors and a loading dock that ran the length of the elevation. The loading dock now only
occupies the east half of the south fagade and the two remaining garage doors have been enlarged. A
concrete block office addition now occupies the other half of this wall. Still, the structure remains industrial
in appearance and reflects the truck traffic that once frequented it. The building is still owned and occupied

by Tyson Foods.
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Jeff Brown Hatchery Building (317 East Emma Avenue)

The building at 317 East Emma Avenue was constructed circa 1925. Jeff Brown purchased it in 1944 under
the auspices of the Springdale Electric Hatchery Co., Inc. and named it the Springdale Electric Hatchery. In
1949, the company changed its name to Jeff D. Brown & Co., and Brown renamed the building the Jeff
Brown Hatchery. They soon constructed the large concrete block addition circa 1951. Today, the vacant
structure consists of two main sections: a front section constructed of brick and a rear section constructed of
concrete block and wood. These walls sit on a poured concrete foundation and are covered with a gable

roof.?
North Fagade

Constructed of red brick, the north elevation of the Springdale Electric Hatchery building faces East Emma
Avenue and serves the front of the building. The door, which has a nine-pane window in its top half, is
centrally located on the storefront. It is flanked by two beige panels that have a vertical three-pane window
at the top and a recessed rectangle pattern at the bottom. Above the door are two transom windows, and
above that are two vertically-oriented beige panels, each inset with a recessed rectangle pattern with indented
corners. This entire arrangement is surrounded by wooden framing painted blue. On either side of the front
entrance are identical window arrangements. They have two large plate-glass windows positioned side-by-
side and flanked by two narrow beige panels. Above are two large horizontally-oriented beige panels inset
with a pattern similar to the one in the panels above the door. Above the windows and doors is a narrow
recessed brick panel that runs the length of the storefront. Lined on the top with corbelling, the panel has at
various times read, "Springdale Electric Hatchery" and "Brown's Hatchery," though the paint is now
considerably faded. Brick caps project slightly above the parapet on each side, while a central extension is
most prominent, occupying the middle third of the parapet.

East Facade

The east elevation consists of two main sections: a front brick section and a rear concrete block section. The
brick section is laid in a common bond pattern atop a relatively thick poured concrete foundation. There are
two boarded-up doors along the brick wall located just above the poured concrete foundation, each flanked

? Abstract of Washington County Tax Records, 1924-1947, Springdale (Brooks Addition), Lots 10-11, Block 1, Washington
County Assessor's Office, Fayetteville, Arkansas; Tax Ledger Sheet, 1948-1960, Springdale (Brooks Addition), Lots 10-11, Block
1, Book 481, Page 63, Washington County Assessor's Office, Fayetteville, Arkansas; Articles of Incorporation, Jeff D. Brown &
Co., Inc., December 1, 1949, E-507, Washington County Clerk's Office, Fayetteville, Arkansas; Executor's Deed, July 7, 1944,
339-386, Washington County Clerk's Office, Fayetteville, Arkansas.
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by two windows. To the right of the northernmost door is a ten-over-ten stationary window, though the
middle six panes open like a casement window. The left window was once the same size, but it was bricked
in and replaced with a much smaller window, which located just above door height and is now boarded up.
The windows on either side of the southernmost door are of identical size to the original window to the

north, but both have been boarded up. Just above the left window, on top of the roof is a small, red, metal-
clad structure with a gable roof. Just below the right window is a vent in the poured concrete foundation.

The bottom two-thirds of the rear section is constructed of concrete block, while the upper third is built of
wood clad in asbestos shingles. The walls sit on a poured concrete foundation, which has eight square vent
holes. There is one large door on the south end of the concrete block wall which has been closed off with
corrugated metal. This portal is covered with an aluminum awning that has been damaged on the south end.
Just below the wood wall there are six small metal vents: four equally spaced along the north half of the
block wall and two above the door on the south end. Between these two sets of vents is a large metal box,
open on the east side, which appears to be a vent housing of some sort. The upper wooden wall, clad with
asbestos shingles, features four one-over-one windows equally spaced across its length.

South Fagade

Like the southern half of the east elevation, the bottom two-thirds of the south elevation is constructed of
concrete block, while the upper third is built of wood. On this side the wood is covered with corrugated
metal, though some of this sheathing is missing. The only significant feature is a vent located just under the
roof gable.

West Fagade

The west elevation is similar to the east elevation in that the front is constructed of brick and the back is
made of concrete block and wood. The brick section is laid in a common bond pattern atop a relatively thick
poured concrete foundation. There are two doors along the brick wall located just above the poured concrete
foundation, each flanked by two bricked-in windows. A single window remains above the southernmost

door.

The bottom two-thirds of the rear section is constructed of concrete block, while the upper third is built of
wood clad in asbestos shingles. The walls sit on a poured concrete foundation, which has several vent holes
that are boarded up. There is one large door near the middle of the concrete block wall which was boarded
up and fitted with a pair of small, two-over-two windows. Just below the wood wall there are seven small
openings for vents, for the most part equally spaced along the length of the wall. The upper wooden wall,
clad with asbestos shingles, features four one-over-one windows equally spaced across its length.
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Summary

Today, northwest Arkansas is famous for its poultry production. The region is most notably home to Tyson
Foods, a company rooted in the breeding and processing of chicken that has grown to become the largest
meat producer in the United States. However, the prominence of the area's poultry industry resulted from the
efforts of other businesses including Jeff D. Brown & Company, whose president, J eff Brown, served as the
first president of the Arkansas Poultry Improvement Association. The site between East Emma Avenue and
East Meadow Avenue, east of the Arkansas & Missouri Railroad tracks in downtown Springdale, Arkansas,
is home to two buildings associated with the origins of Tyson Foods and one building connected to the early
efforts of Jeff D. Brown & Company. Because these businesses played a central role in making the poultry
industry an integral part of Arkansas's economy, the structures are being nominated to the National Register
of Historic Places under Criterion A with statewide significance as the Springdale Poultry Industry Historic
District.

The period of significance for the nomination of the Springdale Poultry Industry Historic District ends in
1969 to reflect the year that Tyson Foods moved their main office from East Emma Avenue to Johnson Road
and Jeff D. Brown & Company sold their hatchery building on East Emma Avenue. Since the district
continued to achieve significance into a period less than fifty years before the nomination, it is also being
nominated to the National Register under Criteria Consideration G: Properties that have Achieved
Significance Within the Past Fifty Years.

Agriculture in Northwest Arkansas

Agriculture has not always been such an important facet of life in northwest Arkansas. The state's earliest
inhabitants were Paleo-Indians, a hunter-gatherer culture that probably followed large Ice Age animals into
the area sometime after 12,000 years ago. It is unclear when they first arrived in the Ozark region, though
radiocarbon dating on a fire pit in Mayes County, Oklahoma, suggests that they were certainly present 9,400
years ago. These first Arkansans did not rely on domesticated agriculture as a food source, rather, they
gathered wild plants and hunted wild game like mastodon, deer, rabbit, squirrel, and gopher. Cultigens
squash and bottle gourd discovered at Phillips Springs (in what is now Hickory County, Missouri) and dated
to 4,200 years before present suggest that some Late Archaic Arkansans may also have cultivated plants on a
limited basis. While domesticated agriculture became increasingly important to many of the prehistoric
people in the state throughout the Woodland and Mississippi periods, small-scale hunting, gathering, and
gardening communities persisted in the Ozark region. That area simply did not have the geo graphical
resources necessary for intensive field agriculture, unlike the river valleys to the south and east. By the
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Truslow established the first commercial poultry breeding operation in Chestertown, Maryland. Then, in
1880, the first commercial operation was established to raise broilers, which are chickens raised specifically

for meat production. 1z

While the poultry industry was expanding by the turn of the century, it was still just a secondary source of
income for most farmers. The commercial center of the industry centered on hatcheries and broiler houses in
the northeast, in states like Massachusetts, Connecticut, and New Hampshire. In much of the country,
however, poultry was an unorganized endeavor in which farmers raised the birds on the side and sold their
eggs to people living in urban areas. Low breeding standards and high mortality rates hampered the
profitability of the industry, and few farmers were willing to take on the risks associated with raising poultry
full-time. Chicken remained a luxury for many Americans, as suggested by Herbert Hoover's 1928
campaign promise to put "a chicken in every pot."13

Arkansas farmers, like many others in the country, mainly raised poultry on the side during the late 1800s.
Poultry production in the state was so irregular at this time that Little Rock residents had to get their eggs
from places as far away as Missouri, Kansas, and Nebraska. By the 1890s, however, some residents of
northwest Arkansas began to experiment with commercial poultry; this endeavor was especially appealing in
this region given its proximity to more established poultry suppliers in the Midwest and its hilly topo graphy,
which limited the production of the state's prominent crops, rice and cotton. In 1893 Willard Berry of
Springdale purchased an incubator and began raising chickens "on an extensive scale” according to the
Springdale News. Enough interest in the industry had developed by 1897 that several farmers, including
Berry, founded an organization known as the Arkansas Poultry Breeders."*

Still, problems with disease, predators, and parasites discouraged most Arkansas farmers from committing
too much to poultry production. In an effort to modernize the poultry industry in northwest Arkansas, the
Arkansas Agriculture Experiment Station began to offer demonstrations about how to raise chickens. Then,
in 1911, the University of Arkansas offered its first poultry course in an effort to further educate area
farmers. Recognizing the trend toward poultry husbandry, the Aaron Poultry and Egg Company, a
subsidiary of the Armour meatpacking empire, arrived in 1914. They sought farmers interested in raising
chickens, but found few takers who were willing to completely give up on the region's traditional crops:
apples, tomatoes, berries, and beans. This hesitancy would all but disappear during the 1920s, when an
insect and worm infestation, coupled with a drought, devastated the apple orchards. A severe freeze in 1927

12 Stephen F. Strausberg, From Hills and Hollers: Rise of the Poultry Industry in Arkansas (Fayetteville, Ark.: Arkansas
Agricultural Experiment Station, University of Arkansas, 1995), 3-5.

13 Strausberg, 5-9.
14 Brent E. Riffel, "Pouliry Industry," The Encyclopedia of Arkansas History and Culture, April 8, 2011,
http://www.encyclopediaofarkansas.net/ encyclopedia/entry-detail.aspx?search=1&entrylD=21 02 (accessed May 26, 2011);

Strausberg, 6-11.
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back on his childhood knowledge of chickens. In 1921 Brown started the first commercial hatchery in
Springdale, using a kerosene-heated incubator to raise and sell chickens to local farmers. Over the next eight
years, he used the old oil incubator, perfected his feeding and hatching techniques, and began extending
credit to farmers interested in raising poultry. Brown also helped found the Arkansas Poultry Improvement
Association in 1927 and served as the organization's first president.21

Brown was confident that the chicken industry could become an important part of the northwest Arkansas
economy, so in 1929 he procured a $700 loan to put a down payment on a Jamesway Electric Incubator with
a 10,000-egg capacity. The incubator was the centerpiece of the Springdale businessman's new hatchery,
located at 126 North Mill Street. By testing his birds for disease and culling weaker ones, Brown produced a
high-quality flock of 58,000 chickens by 1935, a number he increased to 94,000 in 1936. Word was
spreading rapidly among downtrodden farmers about the money that could be made by raising chickens.
Soon the demand for feed outpaced Brown's ability to mix it, so he took out another loan to manufacture his
own line of feed. In 1941 Brown built a second hatchery in Lincoln, Arkansas, and then opened a 140,000-
square-foot feed mill in Anderson, Missouri, in 1945.%2

In 1944, Brown, under the auspices of a partnership called the Springdale Electric Hatchery, purchased a
building at 317 East Emma Avenue in downtown Springdale and moved his local hatchery operations to that
location. Here he attempted many breeding experiments to create a more desirable, faster-growing broiler,
which is a chicken raised for its meat. One of his most popular creations was the Brown's Eureka chick
developed in 1946, a top-selling breed in Arkansas for many years. Brown's crowning achievement,
however, was the LedBrest, a variety that Brown began developing in 1948. By 1965, this bird constituted
40 percent of the broiler chicks sold in the United States and was distributed to 52 foreign countries.”

In December 1949, the Springdale Electric Hatchery became Jeff D. Brown and Company, Inc., and the
building on Emma Avenue was transferred to the new company. Around 1951, Brown constructed the Jarge
concrete block addition on the back of the hatchery to accommodate his rapidly expanding enterprise. His
success led to a number of positions on public and private boards, including the Arkansas State Economic
Council, the State Chamber of Commerce, the Springdale Chamber of Commerce, Midwest Feed
Manufacturing, and the Springdale Industrial Foundation Association. Brown's early innovations in poultry
production, as well as his continuing leadership in the industry, led the Arkansas Poultry Federation to
proclaim him as the "father of the chicken industry” in northwest Arkansas.”*

2! Brotherton, "Springdale (Washington County);" Shiloh Museum, 391; Strausberg, 15, 31.

22 Ghiloh Museum, 391-392; Strausberg, 16-17.

2 Executor's Deed, July 7, 1944, 339-386, Washington County Clerk's Office, Fayetteville, Arkansas; Shiloh Museum, 392.

24 Abstract of Washington County Tax Records, 1924-1947, Springdale (Brooks Addition), Lots 10-11, Block 1, Washington
County Assessor's Office, Fayetteville, Arkansas; Articles of Incorporation, Jeff D. Brown & Co., Inc., December 1, 1949, E-507,
Washington County Clerk's Office, Fayetteville, Arkansas; Shiloh Museum, 392.
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Tyson's Feed and Hatchery continued to expand into the 1960s. In 1963 the company sold 100,000 shares of
common stock at $10.50 each in its first public stock offering and simplified the name of the business to
Tyson's Foods. The following year, Don Tyson laid out the company's first organized corporate strategy, a
vision that focused on investment return and diversification. The younger Tyson was named president of the
company in 1966, but a year later, tragedy struck. John Tyson and his wife Helen were killed when a train
struck their car at a Springdale railroad crossing. Despite the loss of his parents, Don Tyson moved forward
with the company's plans for diversification. Departing from his father's focus on broilers, Don Tyson found
a more stable source of income in Rock Cornish game hens and opened a series of retail fast food outlets
called "Chicken Hut." He also quickened the pace of acquisitions, obtaining Franz Foods of Green Forest
Arkansas, and Washington Creamery of Hempstead, New York, and also created a new subsidiary called
Tyson of Missouri. Thanks to strategies like these and Americans’ increasing appetite for chicken, Tyson's
Foods broke $1 million in net income for the first time in 1969, earning $1,559,000 for the year.3 5

Moorehead's Springdale, Arkansas, City Directory shows that Tyson's Foods' headquarters remained at 319
East Emma Avenue through 1969. From this modest brick building in downtown Springdale, the company
grew from a small operation with less than $1 million in annual net sales to a publicly traded business with
numerous acquisitions and net sales of nearly $62 million a year. The strategy of vertical integration that
made the company so successful was conceived and implemented from its small, wood paneled offices. A
relatively non-descript building in today's terms, it played host to the childhood and adolescent periods of a
business that has grown to adulthood as one of the top meat producers in the United States. In 1970, the city
directory listed Tyson's Foods on Johnson Road, which is where their sprawling office complex is currently

located.”®

Tyson's Foods, whose name was again simplified in 1971 to Tyson Foods, continued its strategy of
diversification and acquisition throughout the 1970s and 1980s. The company bought hog production
facilities in North Carolina in 1977, and by 1979 was the nation's largest hog producer. In 1982 Tyson
Foods had grown so large that it cracked the Fortune 500 list at number 471. Contracts to supply chicken
nuggets to fast food giants like McDonald's ensured the company's continued expansion; by 1986 they were
the top poultry producer in the United States. Tyson Foods made one of their most lucrative acquisitions in
1989 with the purchase of Holly Farms, a move that doubled their market share--already at 13.5 percent.
These buyouts continued throughout the 1990s with Arctic Alaska Fisheries, Inc., Cargill's U.S. broiler
operations, McCarty Farms, Inc., Culinary Foods, Mallard's Food Products, and Hudson Foods. Finally, in

3 Schwartz, 13-16, 146.
36 Springdale, Arkansas, City Directory (Ardmore, Okla.: Moorehead Directory Service, 1969); Springdale, Arkansas, City

Directory (Ardmore, Okla.: Moorehead Directory Service, 1970); Schwartz, 146.
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Washington County, Arkansas

County and State
2

Verbal Boundary Description

The Springdale Poultry Industry Historic District includes Lots 9, 10, 11, 12, and 13 of Block 1 of the

Brooks Addition to the original plat of Springdale, Arkansas.

Verbal Boundary Justification

The Springdale Poultry Industry Historic District contains a high concentration of buildings central to the
development of Arkansas's poultry industry. The district boundary encompasses the lots historically

associated with those buildings.
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